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Making history

~ Maxwell plays role in establishing air mail route

by Jerome Ennels
Director, AU Office of History-

aircraft flown by Maxwell Field people came
slowly into view in the western skies near Mont-
gomery. Within minutes the plané had landed at
Maxwell and a host of military and civilian officials
rushed out to greet the young aviators and to view
 their precious cargo. Lt. Robert D. Knapp and his
able mechanic, Sgt. J. A. Liner, had just delivered
the first official airmail ever to the city of
Montgomery. ' ‘
Their journey was the first leg of a preliminary
_ test to establish an airmail route between the Gulf
Coast and Northern Great Lakes areas. The test,
which also included stations in New Orleans,
Mobile, Birmingham, Nashville, Tenn.,
_Indianapolis and Chicago, was designed to see
whether mail could be flown daily from New
Orleans via intermediate points to Chicago in time
to make connections with the regular westward and
eastward transcontinental airmail service.

Early on the morning of April 17, 1925, a small

(Air Force photo)

A DeHavilland 4-B, like this one, was used in 1925 by Lt. Robert D.V Knapp and Sgt. J.A. Liner in the first
leg of a preliminary test to es'ta’blish an official airmail route from the Gulf Coast to the Northern Great

Lakes area. :
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Peters Field in New Orleans at 11 a.m. the previous
morning in one of the field’s eight DeHaviland-4Bs.
The aircraft, powered by a 420-horsepower Liberty *
engine and f;ymg at MLHO miles-per-hour, had

21_miles to the-tresent.city in only 2 .
houfs and 40 mintites. Onde there, the fliers were
greeted by a welomnmg committee and subsequently

At the crack of dawn the next morning,

Lieuicnant Knapp anc >Crgeéam LIner Ieit reters
Field and began the first leg of their historic :
journey with six bags of mail destined for Mobile

- CONZrossmab-£A81CT Iitll, Uovernor william w.
Brandon and Maj. Roy Brown, the commander of
Maxwell. Montgomery. Postmaster Roy F. Lifsey

and numerous northern cities. ‘Arriving in Mobile at was also present and later swore in Capts. Asa N.
645am.,tlwyremamedmthegulfcoast / only , AD

-~ long e 10 pick up more mail before .- seca
north to ontgomery

- In Montgomery, manyofthecitysleadmg
citizens and military personnel were anxiously
awaiting their arrival. Among them were

1 A Snnpson(sched\ﬂedtoﬂythc
B Of the test flight) as mail carriers.

~ Séveral days earlier local citizens had been
notified “that mail intended for the air service on
the first flight Friday must be in the post office by
8 o'¢lock Friday morning.’” According to the
announcement, “Letters must be endorsed by Air
Mail Service’ and must carry the proper postage.”
‘The proper postage, depending on whestcit was to
be delivered, ranged from 8 to 24 cents. At 8:42
a.m. and 18 minutes ahead of schedule, a second -
DH-4 piloted by Captain:Duncan and leaded with
mail from New Orlearis, Mobile, and Montgomery
took off entpute to Birmingham.

The second leg of the flight was retmvz!y
uneventful with-the aircraft stopping in Bi Ehy
to pick up more mail before flying on to Nashy o
There, Lt. Vincent J. Meloy and Capt. Herbert Fox -
took over to begin the third leg ofithe journey in
_yet another airplane. Their flight, destined for
Louisville, Ky., Indianapolis, and Chicago began at
about noon in a drizzling rain. Though the DH-4
was not designed to fly in such weather, Lieutenant
Meloy continued to pilot his plane through a
subsequent driving rain on to Louisville and
Chicago, bypassmg Indianapolis.

Théy landed in Chicago at 4:20 p.m. in good
time to make the necessary connection with the
transcontinental airmail service. Registered mail val-
ued at more than $3 million had been transported to
the “windy city” in a record breaking time of less
than 12 hours. Post office authorities and airmail
_ officials, who observed each stage of the test ﬂlght
ruled it an unqualified success.

- In the final analysis, Maxwell had added another
chapter to its then short, but proud history. Not
only had local field personnel flown the initial leg
of the trial test, they were also largely responsible
for the development and execution of the entire
plan.

“The perfect manner in which all

=

arrangements were carried out by the officers
at Maxwell Field . ..

{Air Force photo)

would probably have

Retired Br'g Gen. Robert D. Knapp (”ght) reenacts his Ap"l 16, 1925 ai’ma” ﬂ’ght from New Orleans considerable effect in obtaining the permanent air

to Montgomery on the event’s 50th anniversary. The reenactment took place at Dannelly Field in Mont-  gervice at an early date,”

{

said Congressman Hill. It
undoubtedly dld- ,,,,, o
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(A Force Photos) ‘

Flying sergeants in drill formation.




wiIes IVENEN

Training center for Flying Sergeants rekindles memories

by CMSgt. (Ret.) Herman C. Woﬁd
Former Flying Sergeant

It was often crowdcd, noisy, hot and muggy, but the
Old Mill a1 the Southcast Amy Air Force Preflight
Training Center was always filled with enthusiastic and
cager Gls during 1942,

The Old Mill was located scveral city blocks outside
Maxwell Ficld on Bell Strect, the main thoroughfare
between Maxwell and the center of Montgomery.

It was an old and long-abandoned or possibly con-
demned three-story brick cotton mill located in a com-
pound the sizc of a half city block. The mill was partially

.enclosed by achain link fence and surrounded on several

qd | !

sides by a large housing project.

The history of Maxwell Field reveals less on the Old
Mill thanitdoes on the Sergeant Pilot program. It states,
"Another type of preflight traince was the 'Flying Ser-
geant.' They offered no scrious problem. They ook the
same courscs as cadets, but assigned 1o different class-
rooms. The Flying Scrgeant did not mix wcll with
cadcts, largely because of the cadets' superior attitude.
There were reports of occasional beatings taken by
cadcets who attempted to force Flying Sergeants to salute
them. -

"Because of overcrowded conditions in the academic
area, this type of trainec was later housed in the Old Mill
nearly a half milc away. Living conditions werc not
ideal whenever large groups wereinvolved. Classroom

This open bay housed anywhere from 500 to 600 aviator students at one time.

facilities were also established at the mill. -

"The Flying Sergeants, housed first in a tent city and
later at the Old Mill, had many well-founded grievances.
The long dclay entailed before they could enter preflight
school appcared to them unfair, as indeed it did to the
authoritics at SEAAFTC."

The Flying Sergeants, as a separate detachment, left
the Old Mill in carly fall 1942 which would coincide
with the cnaciment of the Flight Officer Act.

- The lowest level, or basement, was partially under-
ground and contained an old rusty boiler which, at onc
time, had been used to power the mill machinery. The
middic Old mill floor was used for administration,
supply, mess and academic classrooms. The third fleor
was one huge open bay with double deck bunks 1o ac-
commodate 500 to 600 students. The floors were con-
structed of very sturdy wood, but heavily saturated with
cotton oil.

Initially, the classrooms were scparated by sheets and
biankcts suspended from wire and rope. In time, this
icmporary partilioning was rcplace with wallboard or
plywood and more substantial structures. The ceiling
was high and the noise level was cxtremely high which
cchoced throughout the academic arca.

Military and civilian instructors were assigned to
conduct classes in thcory of flight, flight rules and
rcgulations, metcorology, cngineering, navigation and
communications (Morsc codc).

Military discipline and academics were the order of
the day at preflight despite the chaotic conditions. There
was no hazing or punishment tours, and drill and physi-
cal conditioning was conducted six days a week, along
with preflight classes. Depending on rank, the students
were required to perform routine duties such as charge
of quarters, kitchen police, and bay and latrine orderly.

There arc many fond memorics of this hectic period
in our lives. We recall the mixture of potential Flying
Scrgeants from diffcrent carcer ficlds and ranks ranging
{rom privatc to master scrgeant. It wasnoisy, hectic and
cxciting, but gradually scttled down 10 a class routine,
and we did learn a great dcal. Most of all, we wanted 1o
{ly and in a few short months, we did!

The Old Mill has long since been demolished and the
site is now a children's playground. The happy cries of
children have replaced the echoes of hup, two, three,
four, "ditty, dit dah" of the Flying Sergeants.
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Painting reveals glimpse of Maxwell’s past

by Rob Young
Air University History Office

An obscured painting of Maxwell
Field in the west attic of Simler Hall
— Maxwell building 836 — offers
interesting lessons in the history of the
base and the building which now
houses the Community College of the
Air Force headquarters.

The building dates to 1928. The
painting — on the attic’s solid concrete
floor — shows the airfield in a
configuration dating to the late 30s or
early 40s. To the west of the field are
diagonally crossed lines with course

headings, Morse Code signals, and
directions to places like Fort. Benning,
Ga., and Meridian, Miss.

Information provided by pilots of
Maxwell’s 457th Airlift Squadron,
Detachment 2, suggested that the map
depicted a beacon for air traffic. This
clarified what it depicted, but failed to
answer the question, “What is this
doing in the attic of an old enlisted
man’s barracks?”

A review of Maxwell Field history
confirmed a very powerful radio range
station was completed here in 1939. It
stood two and one half miles west of
the base on Hunter Loop Road and

.

—— p—

(Photo by Greg Johnson)
Rob Young discusses the painting with Beth Scott, CCAF historian.

served a large area of
the Southeast.

An article in a 1939
Montgomery§
newspaper described Ea
exactly the symbols B8
painted on the attic §
floor. It also mentioned
the radio range station
was under the
command of the base
communications officer
and was a part of the
vast Army Airways
Communications
System. This system divided the
United States into regions.

On Dec. 16, 1940, Maxwell Field
became the headquarters for the Fourth
Army Airways Communications
Region. A copy of the 4th Army
Airways Communications Squadron
history — obtained at Maxwell’s Air
Force Historical Research Agency —
described the crowded conditions of
the base in 1941. The unit’s troops
bunked in a tent city and ate with the
83rd School Squadron.

Most importantly, the history
mentioned that the 4th AACS
maintained a supply room “in the attic
of Building 101.” The history also
described a three-week training course
they offered to the Air Corps air traffic
controllers in the Southeast.

Civil engineering records
confirmed that in 1941 building 836
was building 101. The pieces of the
puzzle fell into place. The painting in
the attic was an instructional tool for

new air traffic
controllers and was
put in the attic simply
because the crowded
conditions forced the
4th AACS to use any
space available. This
was very common in
that day. The Army
Airways Com-
munications System
history mentions most
units had to use “a
comner of a barracks
or a small room” to
train these pioneers of air traffic
control.

An article in the May 23, 1942
Southeast Army Air Forces Training
Center News confirmed the purpose of
the painting and even named the artist:
TSgt. Joseph W. Perry. A photograph
in the paper clearly shows the painting,
plus model buildings and airplanes that
really made it look like a “simulation”
of Maxwell Field.

Today, the supply room is mostly
intact and the painting is visable,
although partially covered by an air
conditioning unit. The legacy of
enlisted technical training lives on in
the old building below the painting —
24 of the 64 credit hours needed for a
CCAF degree come from Air Force
technical training.

Since its completion in 1928, the
building has served not only as an
enlisted man’s barracks, but an
important part of early air traffic
control at Maxwell.

T
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Remembering

Parading in Montgomery’s 1921 Armistice Day parade was
this 22nd Observation Squadron float (above). Below,
+-oops from that squadron prepare for a 1923 Saturday
morning inspection — note the full packs and sidearms.
The aerial view of “Maxwell” in 1918 (above right), shows
some of the only 52 buildings here then. The basic road-
ways shown in the photograph are still here. The arrow
shows about where the Airmen’s Dining Hall is located to-
day.

{Courtesy photos)
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" by Jerome A. Ennels
Air University Historian

Over the years the name Maxwell has become synonymous
with Air Force professional military education. The mere
mention of the name brings quickly to mind thoughts of the
old Air Corps Tactical School, the Army Air Forces School,
and Air University. Some may also recall the base’s training
mission during World War II when the installation served as
the home of the Southeast Air Corps Training Center, a
forerunner of today’s Air Training Command. But few, if
any, can remember or even know of the base’s original but
short lived mission as one of the nation’s first military
aviation repair depots.

THAT MISSION BEGAN shortly after the-United States
entered World War I and the Army began establishing
military flying training fields throughout the nation. To insure
that these fields were constantly supplied with planes and
engines so that flying training could proceed uninterrupted,
the Army established aviation repair depots in Dallas, Texas,
Indianapolis, Ind., and Montgomery. Overtures to acquire 302
acres of land near Montgomery for this purpose began in
1918. On April 4 the deal was struck and the land was leased
to the federal government.

The site selected had been used in 1910 by the Wright
brothers to conduct flying activities and was affectionately -
known as “Wright Field.” The post’s first official name,
however, was Engine and Repair Depot though that name
was quickly changed to Aviation Repair Depot No. 3. By
December 1918, the field’s name was changed again to simply
Aviation Repair Depot, a name it retained until 1921 when it
was redesignated the Montgomery Air Intermediate Depot.
The following year, it was renamed Maxwell Field in honor
of 2nd Lt. William C. Maxwell, an Atmore, Ala., native who
lost his life in a plane crash in the Philippines.

Construction at the field started on April 8, 1918 when the
James Alexander Construction Company of Memphis, Tenn.,
began erecting 52 temporary buildings on the site. These
buildings were all made of wood since it was almost
impossible to obtain structural steel during the national
emergency and it was considered inadvisable and inexpedient
to use brick or concrete. More than 1,200 men were
employed in the frantic effort to meet the wartime demand
for military air fields. The project, including three miles of
tarvia-surfaced roads, cost the government about $819,000

‘Ihe good,

old days

World War [—Maxwell’s
mission wasn’t shaping
minds; troops here were
busy shaping cracked,
bent, broken ‘aeroplanes’

and was completed on July 7, 1918 — only three months
after construction began.

ONCE COMPLETED AND EQUIPPED, the depot was
capable of repairing and manufacturing nearly every single
part of an airplane. Its woodworking shop, for example,
produced fuselage struts, seat rail supports, floor boards, joy
sticks, and more. Thousands of aluminum castings were also
made in the depot’s machine shop for bolts, nuts, clevis pins,
and numerous other parts. In addition, the depot’s sheet metal
shop made fittings of all kinds. And of course, hundreds of
mechanics repaired or completely overhauled airplane engines
as necessary.

The flying field adjacent to the shops was used primarily to
test repaired aircraft. These planes filled the skies daily and as
one field officer noted, “on only a few of the stormiest days
have no ships been flown.” Yet, during its first year of
operation, field personnel boasted of having “the only flying
field in the United States where no serious accidents ever
occurred.”

-During the first three months of operation, most of the
planes repaired at the depot were Thomas Morse Scouts.

‘These Ihittle single seaters were “swift as an eagle” and were in
constant use at various flying fields during the closing months
of the war. Usually, the ones arriving at the depot had been
involved in minor accidents and had cracked wings, broken
landing gear, and twisted fuselages. Nonetheless, repairing
them required particular care and attention. As one depot

'member explained: “Each scout had personality, so to speak,

and the alignment of the delicately-tapered fuselage calls for
skillful fingers, intuition and finesse.”

THE DEPOT ALSO REPAIRED several DeHaviland
(DH)-4s. Repair of DeHaviland planes, however, presented an
even more delicate task since its wings were so “daintily
fashioned” that they seemed to have been “made of holes,
with just enough wood to bind the holes together.” The
DH-4, incidentally, was the first and only American combat
plane to fly over enemy territory during World War L

There were also a few Curtiss planes repaired at the depot
during those initial months. The number of these planes
arriving at the field grew steadily until by the end of the year
nearly all the planes repaired there were Curtiss planes of one
type or another.

The depot’s largest single project was the repair of a
Handley-Page, which was wrecked about 60 miles from
Montgomery. It arrived at the field severely damaged and
loaded on three flat cars. With the exception of a hew center
section, most of the broken parts were replaced by new ones
manufactured at the depot and the plane was quickly
returned to flying status.

SIX MONTHS AFTER THE DEPOT BEGAN
OPERATION, however, the war ended and activity at the
post was curtailed. Though many camps and airfields were
subsequently abandoned, the Aviation Repair Depot in
Montgomery was made a permanent facility and on Jan. 11,
1920, the government purchased the leased land it occupied
for $34,327. The following July the installation ceased
operation as a repair depot and began functioning as a supply
field.

During the years that followed, the installation became a
home of many varying missions, ranging from observation
activities to pilot training. Educational activities, however,
dominated the base’s functions after 1945.

Long before Maxwell’s educational activities ever began,
the base had earned the reputation as “the best aviation post
in the country” while performing its first and very important
logistical mission of “keeping the planes in the air.”




Enlisted Pilots at Maxwell Win Commissions

(Jun 27, 1935
Of the 475 enlisted men who underwent exams, 40 were
appointed secornd lieutenants in the regular Air Corps. Six
of the fourty were stationed at Maxwell including SSgt
Clifton who finished first of 4735. All were graduates of
the Air Corps Primary Flying School, qualified airplane

pilots and members of the Air Corps section of the Officer’'s

Reserve Corps.

Staff Sergeant Ray W. Clifton

Corporal J.D. Pittman Huntsville

Private Edward M. Gavin

Private James H. Price Florala

Private C.H. Leitner, Jr.

Private Russell L. Waldron Montgomery



Sergeant Ray W. Clifton

——President, Montgomery Air Pilots Club 1934

——Expert pilot widely known in aviation circles

——Graduate of the Rir Corps Primary Flying School

—=Gualified airplane pilot and member of Officer’s Reserve

Corps

—Served with Maxwell Field Inspection Department

——Served with three other enlisted pilots from Maxwell Field

as airmail pilots in 1934

——Inaugurated weather observations for US Weather Bureau on

"air—mass" method of forecasting thunderstorms 1934

——=During weather observations flew 0-19 airplane to 17,7082

feet without oxygen

———Used radioc telephone system to relay observations to the

ground

——hiorn regular commission by finishing first of the 475
enlisted meri who underwent exams and 40 who won appointments

as second lieuterniants
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Maxwell Flood Relief, 1929

by Jerome A. Enncls

>

Aerial view of Brewton, Alabama on 17 March 1929; a photo
taken by reconnaissance aircrafl from Maxwell Field, Road

In early March 1929, excessive spring rains caused rivers from
Mississippi eastward to the Atlantic Ocean to overflow, inundating
several town and cities and threatening many others. The Mississippi
River, for example, was over or near flood stage from Memphis,
Tennessee, to its mouth in the Gulf of Mexico. In Alabama, the
Tallapoosa, Tombigbee, Pea, Choctawatchee, and other rivers had
swollen to record levels. Nearby in Georgia, the Chattahoochee
River was at flood slage in every area south of West Point, Georgia.
North Carolina also joined the flood-ridden states as water from
its mountain streams stretched far beyond their normal banks.
Worgt still, more rain was predicted for most of the areas experiencing
high waters.!

Among the states affected, however, Alabama was by far the
hardest hit, particularly its southernmost sections. There, more
than a dozen south Alabama towns and cities were almost cntirely
submerged in flood waters, highways and railroads had been
completely washed away, and all communication with the outside
world had been totally severed. In addition, thousands of people
had been forced from their homes, and many were marooned on
knolls and rooftops. “Though there were initially few deaths, state
officials predicied that unless aid was received promptly, the
number of deaths (due (o drowning, starvation, disease, and
exposure) would reach disastrous proportions.?

Extent of Disaster
First word of the tragic situation in southern Alabama came
from Llba, a town located approximately 70 miles southeast of

30
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batterns are discernible, but houses are inundated. State
authorities turned quickly to Maxwell for help.(USAF photo)

Montgomery, the capital. At about 1530 on 14 March, a message
Wwas sent to the capital asking that help be sent at once and stating
that all Elba was flooded. A courageous operator in Elba -- with
water sloshing about her ankles -- answered a subsequent call
from Montgomery and briefly described the grave situation of the
town before rising flood waters cut the only remaining telephone
lines. Further south in Geneva, a town lying about 30 miles
southeast of Elba, water was reportedly waist deep in the streets,
with the nearby Choctawatchee and Pea Rivers already above the
highest level ever in the past 20 years and still rising. The situation
in the neighboring towns of Georgiana, Andalusia, Brewton, Pollard,
Castleberry, and Flomaton was similar, with flood waters nearly
covering all one-story buildings. Other cities in the arcas seriously
affected by the flood included Keego, River Falls, Gant, Samson,
and Spana. The situation prompted Alabama’s governor, the Hon.
Bibb Graves, to broadcast an appeal for help over radio station
WAPI, urging that relief be sent 1o these areas immediately and
declaring that unless aid was received within the next six to eight
hours "all will be dead.”

Shortly thereafier, Governor Graves ordered two companies of
the Alabama National Guard to the flooded areas to begin rescue
operations. Though cquipped with large trucks and boats,
treacherous roads and strong currents prevented them from reaching
most of the flood-stricken area. In addition, washouts along rail
lines precluded access 10 these areas by train. Conscquently the
Governor quickly realized that the airplane was the only available
means of providing the food and other supplies so desperately

Air Power History/Spring 1989




needed for the survival of thousands of flood refugees. Asa result,
at 2100 on 14 March, he called Maj. Walter R. Weaver, the Commanding
Officer of Maxwell Field, and asked for his assistance in providing
relief to the flood victims.*

Major Weaver immediately pledged Maxwell’s support and
assured the Governor that every resource at the Field would be
used to assist in the crisis, Within minutes, he had assembled his
staff and declared a state of emergency.  Military leaves were
revoked, and no one was allowed to leave the station without
special permission. All activities except those related to the relief
effort were suspended, and work began promptly on developing
the plans and strategies nccessary for conducting a massive
flood-relief mission.’

By midnight, truckloads of food, clothing, and medical and
other supplies began arriving at the Field from the American Red
Cross. Soldiers worked desperately throughout the night removing
items from boxes and packing them into bags to be air-dropped
to flood victims. A radio truck was also dispatched from the field
shortly after midnight to a point six miles north of Elba for the
purpose of establishing and maintaining communications between
the post and those who would be working in the area of the
flood. At dawn, on 15 March, Maxwell petsonnel were ready to
begin what was later called "the most stupendous relief expedition
in the history of any air corps."s

Airlift Begins

The expedition began at 0530 on the morning of 15 March,
when 11 planes -- Maxwell’s entire aircraft inventory -- left the
field en route to the flood-stricken towns lying from 60 to 150
miles south of the station. For three hours the pilots observed the
flood conditions and, in most cases, found the situations to be
even worse than initially expected. At Elba, for example, earlier
reports had indicated that the water was only waist deep and
basically confined to the downtown area. The pilots found instead
an area of approximately six square miles flooded with water
varying in depth from 10 to 30 feet and numerous frame dwellings
actually collapsed from the pressure of onrushing waters. The
situation in most of the other neighboring towns was similar, with
the flood waters also causing havoc in the suburban areas and
countrysides.”

Maxwell Field soldiers ready to begin the task of sorting
and dropping relief supplies stacked in a hangar at the
Sield. (USAF photo)

Vir Power Histoey “Sapine [av

Maxwell Flood Relief

Maj. Walter Weaver, Maxwell Field commander, talks on
the phone (right) while his staff officers and a civilian
liaison person go about the business of relief. (USAF
DPhoto)

Communication with the flood victims was established quickly
by dropping panels for sending coded messages. Because most
of the relugees were unfamiliar with the Army Air Corps-Red Cross
message code, a special edition of the 15 March Montgomery
morning newspaper, the Advertiser, containing the message code
and instructions on how 1o use it, were dropped with the panels,
In some cases, communications were established in less than five
minutes and the refugees were able to inform the air crews of
their most urgent needs. The planes then returned to Maxwell
where they were refucled, given maintenance checks, and loaded
with the needed supplies. In less than half an hour, the aircrafi
had returned to the flood districts and the airdrops began.8

The airdrops, by today’s standards, were rather crude operations.

In most cases, bags of food and other supplies were simply
dropped from the plane by an observer without the benefit of a
parachute. "Diving at a house at a terrific rate of speed the pilot
would level off his plane sufficiently for the observer to toss a
package overboard," Jack ¢ York, post staff Correspondent,
explained. It was the observers "duty to accurately drop the
bundies so that they landed directly on the housetops where
refugees were Though most drops were made while traveling
atapproximately 100 miles an hour, few of them reportedly missed
their destination ¥

Airdrops were also preuy risky business and on more than one
occasion nearly resulted in disastor During one of those drops,
for example, a blanket struck the plane’s stubilizer and another



Maxwell Flood Relief

Spreading the (ground-to-air) code words. Lieutenants
W.H. McArthur (lef1) and LW. Ott with special edition of
Montgomery Advertiser newspaper with the Army-Red
Cross message code. (USAF photo)

landed across the aircraft's tail surface and became entangled in
the plane’s controls. At the time, the airplane was less than 100
feet from the flood waters and headed for a groups of pine trees
on a bank nearby. Kicking his rudder bar frantically, the pilot
managed to get his plane to an aititude of 1,000 feet and slowly
made his way back to Maxwell were he landed unharmed. In
another instance, an aircraft was forced down in flood waters south
of Brewton, Alabama, when it developed engine trouble. Both
fliers abandoned the aircraft and swam to a nearby tree from which
they were later rescued. There were also other instances in which
airplanes engaged in the relief mission either "cracked up" or made
forced landings, but fortunately none of the fliers were killed or
seriously injured.’®

In addition to food, clothing, and medical supplies, outboard
motors were also dropped at several Alabama National Guard
stations operating in the flood vicinities. Attached bencath the
wings to the plane’s bomb rack, the motors were wrapped in
parachutes which automatically unfolded when released, allowing
the motors to fall without damage. Once on the ground, guardsmen
quickly attached the motors to rescue boats which were used,
when water currents permitted, to ferry flood refugcees to safety.

32

In some instances, motors were delivered by airplanes which
actually landed at the stations using makeshift, emergency runways.
Two planes, however, were so badly damaged in the soft mud of
the runways that they were unable to fly again and the practice
was temporarily discontinued.!?

The operation was closely monitored at Maxwell, the Fourth
Corps Area in Atlanta, Georgia, and the War Department in
Washington, D.C. All returning pilots and observers were required
to provide Major Weaver a written report of their observations
and any panel signals or radio messages obtained while in the
flood zones. In addition, a chart with the name of each air crew
and the routes they were flying was maintained at Maxwell so
that Major Weaver could direct aerial operations and, almost to
the minute, keep tabs on the location and movement of his men
as they traveled to and from the field.

This information was then relayed to the Fourth Corps Area and
subsequently to the War Department where the relief operations
were being followed closely and with great intercst. The system
was reportedly "one of the most efficacious ever devised in relief
work" as it permitted all levels of command to measure "the exact
pulse of the situation."12

The Pace Accelerates
By noon on 15 March six additional airplanes with pilots and
observers from the 106th Observation Squadron of the Alabama
National Guard (Roberts Field, AL) had reported to Maxweil. They
immediately joined in the mission, greatly accelerating the relief
effort. Almost as fast as the Red Cross could deliver supplies to
the field, planes roared away with them en route to the inundated
cities. By dusk, 34 round-trip missions had been flown to the
flood districts and tons of food and other supplies had been
dropped.®

Though flying activities ended at dusk on 15 March, work at the
field continued throughout the night. In addition to making
preparations for the next day, many of the men were still required
to perform their regular jobs. "Officers with responsible post jobs
accomplished their six to eight hours in the air for the relief of
flood sufferers, came in, grabbed a bite to eat and went to their
desk 1o bring routine duties up to date," one report noted. "It was
the rule rather than the exception to see officers working night
after night to accomplish their regular work after a hard day in the

An outboard motor swaddled in burlap sacks and
attached to a parachule is ready for drop and attachment
Lo relief boats in the flood zone. (USAF pholo)
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Maxuwell Field soldiers load supplies (maltlresses?)
aboard a Douglas aircraft for flight to the flooded area.
(USAF photo)

air." In fact, on several occasions during the emergency some
Maxwell personnel went as long as 48 hours without sleep.’

Operations resumed early on the morning of 16 March, with an
even greater sense of urgency and increasing national attention.
During the night the flood waters had continued to rise, further
complicating an already critical situation. *Five thousand persons
are hanging on the highest roofs in Geneva...for their lives, while
swirling waters...have submerged all one-story buildings and cut
wide torrents across the town," the San Antonio Light reported.'
Nearby, some 2,000 people were also reportedly "clinging to
housetops in Elba proper" and some 700 to 1000 additional persons
marooned by flood waters were found on an island north of the
city.” The conditions on the island were extremely critical; the
Atlanta Constitution reported, "the people were clustered on
rooftops and some of them were perched in trees while the high
waters literally lapped at their feet.” Newspapers in nearly every
major city carried similar stories of the flood and of the plight of
its victims.®

Reinforcements Arrive

Other military units joined the relief effort on 16 March. Battery
F of the 141st Field Artillery of Troy, Alabama, began a rescue
mission that day in four large boats destined for Elba, but the men
were unable to reach the town due to the swift currents of the
Pea River. Coast Guard units from Biloxi, Mississippi, and Santa
Rosa and Freeport, Florida, also arrived on the scene and began
assisting in the search for victims. In addition, 20 seaplanes from
the Naval Air Station in Pensacola Florida, began dropping foodstuffs
at Brewton and Flomaton, Alabama. With the planes from Maxwell
leading the way, representatives from virtually every branch of
the military’s active reserve forces were in some way or another
participating in the flood relief mission during the second day of
operations.!?

Later that day, supplies were dropped for the first time at rescue
camps set up by the Alabama National Guard in the nearby towns
of Hartford, Slacum, and Sampson. Through the use of boats,

Air Power History/Spring 1989
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Sack brigade of Maxwell Field soldiers and supplies being
loaded aboard a Douglas C-1 for delivery to the flood
areas. (USAF photo)

almost the entire population of some cities had been moved from
the flood waters to these nearby camps. Sanitary conditions at
the camps, however, were bad and precautions were required to
avoid the outbreak of disease. It was necessary to drop increasingly
large quantities of typhoid antitoxin to immunize flood victims
against this dreaded disease, which many feared would reach
epidemic proportions due to the polluted flood waters. Including
the drops made at the rescue camps, a total of 42 missions had
been flown by the end of the second day in what the local press
was calling “missions of mercy."'®

At the crack of dawn on the third day, 17 March, airplanes in a
steady stream were once again on their way to the flood zones.
By 1000, nine more planes from the 2nd Bombardment Group,
Langley Field, Virginia, arrived at Maxwell and joined in the flood
reliefl mission. In addition, Ralph Montee, Chief Pilot of the
Naturaline Company of America, arrived about four hours later in
a Buhl Air Sedan and volunteered the use of his plane in the relief
work. Al one point during the day, 21 planes were in the air
carrying cargo to the flooded areas before completing 59 round
trip missions by nightfall.!?

Evaluating the Situation

With the situation stabilizing somewhat on the morning of 18
March, Major Weaver and 1st Lt. W.B. McCoy left Maxwell Field
in a plane to survey the Brewton, Geneva, and Elba-sections.
Upon his return, Major Weaver told Governor Graves "that he saw
people hanging destitute.in trees in Lowndes County in an area
over which the flood waters from the swollen river had spread to
a great width." He also explained that it was impossible at that
time to determine the extend of the loss of life or the damage
done until a more complete survey was made.®

That afternoon the Governor also decided to get a first hand
look at the flood and the havoc it had caused. Accompanied by
Charles G. Moffet, President of the State Board of Administration,
and Major Weaver, he flew over approximatcly 300 miles of the
arcas affected by the flood. The flight was made in a civilian
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Maxwell Flood Relief

Flood waters reached the second stories of houses in Elba,
Alabama during the great flood of 1929. Disease and hunger

aircraft and lasted about three hours. Upon returning to Maxwell,
the Governor wore an expression of deep worry and concern as
he stepped from the airplane. Official estimates at the time indicated
17 confirmed deaths, hundreds of estimated deaths, and damages
of $30 million. Forecasts indicating more rain and the Alabama
River rising to a crest of 56 feet gave the Governor even more
cause for alarm.21

Meanwhile, the airdrops continued. Thirteen more airplanes
were added to the Maxwell fleet with the arrival of nine more
aircraft from Langley Field and four from Fort Bragg, North Carolina,
bringing the total number of planes participating in the relief
mission to 38 and increasing the number of round trips to 76, the
highest flown since the operation began.?

Yet there was still cause for concern. Though the centers of
population in the flood-swept areas were receiving sufficient aid,
the situation outside the cities and towns was still acute. There
also remained concern that many isolated areas had not been
found and that their victims were still suffering. For example, on
18 March, four days after the relief efforts began, a group of
individuals in dire need were discovered marooned on knolls and
hilltops near Brewton, Alabama. Civilian and military officials
feared that many other groups in the countryside had been missed
in spite of the Air Corps’ efforts to survey every square foot of the
inundated territory.?

Winning the Fight

Those fears ended, however, on 19 March, when the forecast
rains did not come and the waters began receding. For the first
time since the operations were started, the number of relief missions
was reduced and flights to the flooded areas were limited to direct
requests for aid. Though 70 round-trip missions were flown that
day, reports indicated that everything was "in good shape and the
emergency was over." Operations were halted just before dusk
that evening.* But for five days, from 15 March to 19 March, the
grueling mission had been conducted from sunup to sundown
with an intensity characteristic of a combat campaign. Nearly 40
airplanes had been used in the operation, including PT-1s, 02-Hs,
0-17s, O-11s, A-3s, a C-1, and a Buhl Air Sedan. With the exception
of the C-1 Douglas Transport, none of the airplanes were designed
to carry freight. Altogether, they had flown a total of 281 separate
missions, dropped more than 50 tons of supplies, and chalked up
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were defeated by aerial velief missions flown by Maxwell
Field and other aircrews and aircraft (USAF photo)

more than 600 hours of flying. Twelve thousand gallons of gasoline
and 900 gallons of oil were also used. Based on an average
estimated cost of $75 an hour to operate a plane, the five days of
relief work had cost the government approximately $45,000.%

State losses during the five-day ordeal were devastating. Eleven
lives were lost, hundreds had been injured, and thousands had
been left homeless. Damage to farms and private property totaled
approximately $10,000,000. In addition, agriculture losses from
the flood were estimated at nearly $800,000 and livestock losses
exceeded $1,000,000. Similarly, the cost for repairing state roads,
bridges, and railways was expected to cost hundreds of thousands
of dollars. Beyond all doubt, the flood had been the worst and
most costly in the history of the state.?

Asscssing the Effort
The cost to the Air Corps, however, was small when compared
to the respect and admiration the military had obtained from the

-

Ready to survey the flood relief scene, Gov. Bibb Graves
(second from left) and his party pose for a photo before
boarding an aircraft with Maj. Walter Weaver. From left
lo right, the survey party included Ralph Montee, Governor
Graves, Maj. Weaver, Mrs. Graves, Charles Moffett, and
Mrs. Weaver. (USAF photo)
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American public in general and Alabamians in particular. "It was
a case where opportunity was presented to the military branches
to be of service and they seized it with an avidity and courage
and foresight which have won them a new place in the hearts of
the people of the state," the Journal reported.

"Too often the thoughtless connect the military branches of our
government only with war and armed conflict. Peace advocates
attempt to handicap and discourage these branches of the national
and state governments. They fail to reflect that well organized
and equipped military bodies can be of even greater service in
peaceful emergencies than in emergencies of armed disorder or
conflict. The very fact that they are organized and highly trained
to meet unforeseen conditions makes them of inestimable value
and importance. Unorganized and unequipped civilians could
never have accomplished so expeditiously what has been
accomplished by the federal air forces and state guardsmen during
the disaster which has overtaken South Alabama."®’

The effort also received praise and recognition from the War
Department. During a visit to the installation on 3 April 1929,
Gen. James E. Fechet, Chief of the Air Corps, stated that Maxwell
had performed a great service in furnishing temporary relief 1o
the Alabama flood sufferers. "I was very pleased with the work
of the post in the flood," General Fechet said, and he added that
although "it was not the first time the Air Corps had engaged in
flood relief work, it was the largest single operation of that nature

Air Power History/Spring 1989
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up to that time. In a letter to Major Weaver on 1 May 1929, Brig.
Gen. Benjamin D. Foulois, Assistant Chief of the Air Corps, echoed
similar sentiments; "Your initiative and promptness in this emergency,
as well as that of the officers directly connected with this work,
has brought credit to yourself and the Air Corps."®®

In the final analysis, Maxwell had once again reserved a place
for itself in the annals of aviation history. Though airplanes were
involved in the Mississippi and New England floods two years .
earlier, they were used primarily for communication and photographic
purposes.” Never before had the airplane been involved in such
a massive effort to carry food and supplies to thousands of distressed
people in areas which could have otherwise remained inaccessible
for days. The Alabama flood relief mission of 1929 was the first
large-scale effort to airlift and drop food and supplies during a
major civilian emergency.® More importantly, it established a
precedent for a peacetime role that the Air Force would be called
upon to play on many more occasions in the future.

Jerome A. Ennels is the Director of the Office of History for the Air

University (AU). He serves as chief advisor to the AU commander
and staff on all history matters. He also is responsible for researching
and writing the annual AU history, monographs and special studies,
and for managing the AU field history program. He holds a B.A.
in social science from the University of Maryland and an M.S. in
history from Fisk University.
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Maxwell Flood Relief Notes

1. Monigomery Advertiser, 14 Mar. 1929, 3; Monigomery Advertiser,
15 Mar. 1929, 1.

2. Extracts from Official Report on Flood Relief, by the 4th Division,
Aviation, Maxwell Field, Montgomery, AL, 14-20 Mar. 1929, in
Maxwell Field (Montgomery, 1929), 53-67 Chereinafter cited as
Official Repors).

3. Montgomery Advertiser, 15 Mar. 1929, 1.

4. Ibid.

5. Official Report, 53.

6. Angus A. Acree, "26 Planes Rush 50 Tons of Food and Relief
Supplies to Alabama’s Flood Victims," in Maxwell Field Scrapbook
(1929-1930), 30.

7. Ibid ; Official Repori, 54-55.

8. Monigomery Advertiser, 18 Mar. 1929, 4. The code was developed
by Brig. Gen Benjamin D. Foulois and used in the New England
Flood relief mission of 1927. It was subsequently adopted by the
Red Cross.

9. Jack C. York, "Planes Leading Relief Worker," Birmingham Post,
18 Mar. 1929, 2.

10. fbid ; Monigomery Advertiser, 20 Mar. 1929, 3.

11. Montgomery Advertiser, 18 Mar. 1929, 9; Birmingham Post 19
Mar. 1929, 13; Joseph C. McCoy, "Flood Stricken Refugees Send
Up Fervent Prayer "God Bless You’ As Aviators of Maxwell Work
Untiringly On Relief," Monigomery Advertiser, 18 Mar. 1929, 1.
12. Alabama jJournal, 18 Mar. 1929, 1 and 3.

13. Official Report, 57.

14. Ibid,, 61, Monigomery Advertiser, 19 Mar. 1929, 2.

15. San Antonio Light, 17 Mar. 1929, 1.

16. Atlanta Constitution, 18 Mar. 1929, 1.

17. Montgomery Advertiser, 16 Mar. 1929, 1; Monigomery Advertiser,
16 Mar. 1929, 11.

18. Angus Acree, "Planes Sweep Area Carrying Aid to Victims,"
Sunday American, 17 Mar. 1929, 1; Monigomery Advertiser, 18
Mar. 1929, 1.

19. Official Report, 57.

20. George N. Dubina, Chromology of Maxwell Field (AU/HO Study
1, Maxwell AFB, AL, 1964), 92; Alabama Journal, 18 Mar. 1929, 1.
21. Montgomery Advertiser, 19 Mar. 1929, 2. The overflowing of
the Alabama River had already caused hundreds of people to
evacuate north Montgomery and parts of Wetumpka, Alabama, a
town located about 16 miles north of the capital. Areas along the
northern sections of the Alabama River, however, were not as
severely affected as those in the southernmost portion of the state.
22, Ibid, 3.

23. 1bid.

24. Monigomery Advertiser, 20 Mar. 1929, 2.

25. Acree, Army Planes, 30.

26. Monigomery Advertiser, 22 Mar. 1929, 1; Monsgomery Advertiser,
31 Mar. 1929, 1.

27. Alabama Journal, 19 Mar. 1929, 6.

28. Official Report, 67, Montgomery Advertiser, 4 Apr. 1929, 1.
29. New York Times, S Nov. 1927,1; New York Times, 24 Oct. 1927,
38. Over 200 lives were lost in the New England flood that took
place during November 1927, with damages costing the states of
Vermont, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Connecticut and New
York nearly $50,000,000. Earlier that same year, flood destruction
in Mississippi totaled nearly $46,000,000 in property damages (2,725
homes were destroyed and 22,940 others were damaged), $1,000,000

—
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in livestock losses, and $400,000 in damages to highways and

bridges.

30. Alabama Journal, 18 Mar. 1929, 6, New York Times, 14 Apr.

1929, xi-15.
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THE MAXWELL TIME CAPSULE:
PEN IN THE YEAR 2043

By MAJOR NICK P. APPLE

{Twenty-four Liberator bombers
fléw over Maxwell Field on December
29, 1943 as the final echelons of Army
Air Forces cadets marched past the
reviewing stand erected to the left of
the two-ton marble monument. A few
minutes before, a U.S. senator had
pulled the covering from the stone
and had handed a time capsule to a
justice of the Alabama Supreme Court
who had been a friend of Orville
Wright.

The justice then placed the capsule
in the back of the monument and
sealed it in place with mortar while
Movietone News filmed the event.
Twenty-seven years after the elabo-
rate ceremonies of 1943, the time
capsule and the accompanying activi-
ties have all but been forgotten.

Visitors today at Maxwell AFB,
Montgomery, Ala., can inspect the
five-foot monument located on the
west side of the base operations build-
ing. Standing in front of the white
marble, visitors can read this inscrip-
tion:

1910-1943
THIS STONE TO MARK THE
AIRDROME EXPANSION AT
MAXWELL FIELD, COMPLETED
I DECEMBER 1943, MUST
ENDURE IN HONOR OF
ORVILLE WRIGHT WHO FLEW
HERE ON 26 MARCH 1910
AND LIEUT. WM. C. MAXWELL

FOR WHOM THIS POST IS
NAMED AND ALL MEN WHO
FLY FOR FREEDOM, THE
LIVING AND THE DEAD.

In letters one and one-quarter inches
high, the inscription covers an area
approximately 29 by 28 inches. The
few curious visitors who walk around
the bushes flanking the stone find a
three-inch copper disc imbedded in
the rough marble facing base oper-
ations. An inscription on the disc
reads:

STONE SET

DEC. 29, 1943

THE HISTORY
OF
MAXWELL FIELD
1910-—19543
IS SEALED HEREIN

Historical records maintained at
Air University, which inherited Max-
well Field "at the end of WW 1II, in-
dicate that Col. Thomas M. (Paul)
Todd ordered the “history to be sealed
and opened in 100 years.” The history
was compiled by the Maxwell section
of the AAF Historical Division with
an annex written by Dr. Peter A.
Brannon, director of the Alabama De-
partment of Archives and History.
After unveiling the stone, Senator Lis-
ter Hill gave the time capsule—which
had been manufactured by the 68th
Sub-Depot of the Air Service Com-

Tracy Apple examines stone erected to memory of Orville Wright and Lt. William C.

Maxwell at Maxwgll Field, 29 December 1943.

Inscription covering time capsule sealed into
two-ton marble monument at Maxwell Field.

mand—to Associate Justice William
H. Thomas, who deposited the capsule
in the stone for a future generation to
read.

Among the witnesses were three
brothers of Ist Lt. William C. Mux-
well and Aviation Cadet Spence C
Crane Jr., whose father had been one
of Orville Wright's first three flying
students in Montgomery.

The history sealed in the time cap-
sule began seven years after the
Wright brothers' first flight at Kitt
Hawk, when Wilbur toured the South
in search of a year-round flying field
After visiting Augusta and Atlanta, a
well as several places in Florida, Wil-
bur went to Montgomery on February
20, 1910. He found the Kohn planta-
tion near the Alabama River, and
three miles from town, acceptable ¢
proposed bringing one of his air -af
and several students to Montgon ery

The Wright aircraft was subse
quently shipped from Cincinnati, ar
riving in mid-March. Mechanic C. E
Taylor and students W. R, Brookin:
and J. W. Davis assembled the “grea!
mechanical bird.” It would hopefull?
develop 25 to 35 horsepower and
carry sufficient gasoline to drive tw¢
pusher propellers for approximatel?
four hours of flight. Before the firs
flight could be made, however, ?
200-foot monorail runway had to b
constructed. Then on March 26, OF
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ville Wright made his first flights in
montgomery over what is now Max-
well AFB. During two solo flights of
3pproximately-ﬁve .minutes each, he
qever exceeded an altitude of 50 feet.

«A strange new bird soared over
-otton fields to the west of Montgom-
orv Saturday afternoon,” the local
préss announced. “It was the graceful
seroplane of Orville Wright, guided by
.he hand of the pioneer of the skies
nimself. The big biplane took to the
.r. ascending in a long, graceful
-.ur Under perfect control it fol-
oW the hand of Orville Wright,
.rr g, ascending, descending at his
~idding.” He later told the press that
aeroplane sailing is not all mere
manipulation of the engine. There is
udgement of currents to be taken,
alancing to be gauged, and the many
atricacies of piloting that will come
only with practice.” When asked
about the eventual use of the airplane
sutside of war operations and govern-
ment use, Orville Wright replied it
would be used “to carry mail between
cer: in points, for quick journeys in
pla. of a special train, and for per-
son. . recreation.” He discontinued the
s«chool in the summer of 1910.

The Wright flying field later ac-
quired the name “Maxwell,” which
comes from the Latin word meaning
“leader.” The Air Force installation at
Montgomery, which does prepare Air
Force leaders, is named in honor of
Lieutenant William Calvin Maxwell,
who was born in Natchez, Alabama,
but who grew up in Atmore, Ala
bama. He was killed in an aircraft
cra<h in the Philippines on August 12,
19°). During an emergency landing,
he iew his aircraft into a plantation
fla; »ole to avoid striking a group of
chiidren. Montgomery Air Intermedi-
ate Depot was renamed Maxwell
Field on November 8, 1922. General
Order Number 45, which designated
the change, carried the signature ele-
ment of “John J. Pershing, General of
the Armies, Chief of Staff.” The order
was dated one day before what would
have been Lieutenant Maxwell’s 30th
birthday.

The ceremonies at Maxwell Field
on December 29, 1943, were held to
de icate extensive new facilities, in-
cli iing runways for the Consolidated
B-_4 Liberators. In the year before,
condemnation proceedings had ac-
quired approximately 1000 additional
acres of land for the expanded air-
drome and for the relocation of a
highway and railroad. Senator Lister
Hill, the principal speaker at the dedi-
cation, termed Maxwell Field a “hal-
lowed ground,” named for an Ameri-
can who “gave his life for our coun-
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try.” “From its soil,” Senator Hill
continues, “have gone many others
like unto him who have given their
lives that we might continue free. As
we dedicate this great addition to
Maxwell Field, let us also dedicate
ourselves that we may be worthy of
these heroes and of these splendid
young Americans who are gathered
with us today and who shall go forth
to fight for our country in the spirit of
these heroes. With faith in ourselves,
with faith in America, with faith in
the God of our fathers, let us resolve
that we will do our full part each and
every day in the winning of the war in
the shortest possible time.”

Maxwell compiled an impressive
record during WW IL Its training
program produced more than 100,000
aviation cadets—pilots, navigators and
bombardiers. Its 2653 Liberator crews
flew 165,544 hours and made 230,720
landings in the B-24 transitional
school. And its 728 B-29 crews flew
46,554 hours and made 112,809 land-
ings without one major accident. At
the time of the dedication ceremony,
Maxwell also housed headquarters of
the Eastern Flying Training Com-
mand. Its 29 major stations were scat-
tered from Ohio to Florida and from
South Carolina to Arkansas.

In his dedication talk Senator Hill,
who has since retired, linked the fu-
ture of Maxwell Field with the post-
WW 11 establishment of a world orga-
nization. He said, “We may know that
the Army Air Forces will have a
leading and important place in any
international force that may be estab-
lished, and Maxwell Field with its
great investment of millions of dollars
in the field, will continue one of the
key centers and most vital installations

Orville Wright flew his pusher areoplane in Montgomery for the first time on 26 March 1910.

in the Army Air Forces.”

His prophecy of Maxwell's future
importance began to materialize when
Air University was established at
Maxwell on March 12, 1946. The
major air command has since de-
veloped into a complex of military
schools and educational services, serv-
ing as the intellectual heart of Ameri-
can aerospace power. Briefly, Air
University provides the Air Force
with its future top leaders, best staff
officers and trained specialists so that
the Air Force can meet its challenging
commitments at home and abroad.

Alabama’s senior senator was intro-
duced at the dedication by Maj. Gen.
Thomas J. Hanley Jr., commanding
general of the AAF Eastern Flying
Training Command. In his introduc-
tion, General Hanley said the re-
location of the Air Corps Tactical
School at Maxwell in the summer of
1931 was an important acquisition. He
mentioned Chennault, Eaker, Spaatz,
Emmons, Echols, Stratemeyer and
Kenney—key Air Force generals of
WW Il—were graduates of the old
“Tac” school at Maxwell or the school
at Langley Field, Va., where it had
been located since October 10, 1920.
The outbreak of war in Europe sealed
the fate of the Air Corps Tactical
School and it was closed on June 13,
1940. Having adoped the “Tac”
school’s coat of arms as its official
command emblem, Air University
perpetuates the memory of the Air
Corps Tactical School.

Col. Elmer J. Bowling, base com-
mander, introduced W. C. Bowman,
president of the Montgomery Cham-
ber of Commerce and chairman of the
Citizen’s Participting Committee for
the ceremonies. Bowman presented
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in 1910,

the marble monument, obtained from
Sylacauga, Ala., to Maxwell Field as a
gift from the Chamber. Other guests
who were introduced that day in-
cluded the three Maxwell brothers (1.
N. of Beatrice, Ala., J. F. of Atmore,
Ala.,, and W. O. Roscoe of Punta
Gorda, Fla.), Chief Justice L. D.
Gardner of the Alabama Supreme
Court, Congressman George Grant,
Montgomery Mayor Cyrus K. Brown,
and L. R. Grimes, vice-president of
the Montgomery County Board of
Revenue.

The B-24 flight that day was under
the direction of Lt. Col. Maurice R.
Lemon, director of the AAF Pilot
School (Specialized Four-Engine.) The
aviation cadet review (in almost divi-

A Montgomery merchant advertised "Wright prices” on the hangar used by Orville Wright
at what is now Maxwell AFB. This photograph of an "early Wright machine' was taken

sional strength) was under the super-
vision of Lt. Col. Charles R. Cross,
director of the Pre-Flight School (Pi-
lot). Majors Edward L. Van Allen
and Joe R. Daniel, unit group com-
manders, led the 24 Liberators which
passed over the parade in elements of
three.

The history of Maxwell Air Force
Base since then has changed from
flying 1o education. Perhaps, someday,
one or more capsules bearing the up-
dated history of Maxwell will also be
sealed in that two-ton marble monu-
ment. When the capsules are opened
in the year 2043 they will reveal to a
new generation the significant con-
tributions made to U.S. aerospace
power at Maxwell Air Force Base.

Orville Wright and student pilot W. R. Brockins were the only two persons identified in
this 1910 photograph. Two men on the right were not named in the original caption.
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MAID float in Montgomery's 1921 Armistice
Day parade. Note the 22nd Observation
Squadron insignia.

The Military, Montgomery,
and Maxwell

by John H. Napier lii

Saturday morning inspection with full packs and sidearms, 22nd Observation Squadron, Maxwell Field, 1923.
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HERE is a symbiosis between Mont-

gomery, Alabama, and Maxwell Air
Force Base. Both the city and the military
installation were named for military
heroes, albeit more than a century apart,
and the tradition lingers.

When Montgomery Jaycees recently
staged a contest to name their new river-
boat. the name they chose was the General
Richard Montgomery. When military men
at Maxwell retire from active duty, they
tend to "*hang up their suits’’ in Montgom-
ery. There may be more retired military
living in the Montgomery metropolitan
area than there are active duty people
stationed at Maxwell AFB and Gunter AFS.

Montgomery, the cradle of the Confeder-
acy, and Maxwell, home of Air University,
are on the edge of the fertile Black Belt,
overlooking the Alabama River as it flows
to the Gulf of Mexico. Location made Mont-
gomery, and climate made Maxwell. The
town was established because it lay be-
tween the Alabama River and the Old Fed-
eral Road. And Maxwell was established
because of good flying weather in this re-
gion. But it wasn’t named Maxwell when
the first Western military men came this
way and recorded its site in history. There
was an Alabama Indian village named
Tawasa there, where Hernando de Soto and
his Spanish military expedition encamped
the week of 6-13 September 1540. A ‘‘gent-
leman with the army’’ recorded the
Spaniards’ stay and the fact that the local
chief gave the visitors some 30 Indian
women and carriers, supposedly in ex-
change for 30 knives and 30 mirrors.*

Alabama archaeologists place the site of
Tawasa near Maxwell ““officers’ country,”
where the east golf course, officers’ mess,
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Orville Wright and a Wright Flyer at his civilian
flying school, Kohn Plantation, Montgomery,

AL, 1910.

and senior officers’ quarters overlook the
Alabama River. Tristan de Luna’s soldiers
may have visited Tawasa in 1559 when they
came upriver from their Gulf Coast settle-
ment foraging for supplies.? Otherwise, the
Alabama River country faded from history
for nearly 150 years.

In 1930, the Alabama Society of Colonial
Dames dedicated a marker commemorat-
ing de Soto’s sojourn at Tawasa, but had to
place it outside the Maxwell reservation,
where the old Birmingham and Selma
highways forked. On the 435th anniversary
of de Soto’s arrival, 45 years later, Air Uni-
versity and the Colonial Dames rededi-
cated the marker, moved to its rightful
place, on base near the river bluff, next to
the eighth tee of Maxwell's east golf
course.®

During the late 17th century the Alabama
River headwaters became a focus for three
rival European imperial thrusts. Spain was
ensconced in Florida to safeguard the pas-
sage of her Plate Fleet from Mexico to the
homeland. England was pushing down the
Atlantic Seaboard to found Carolina in 1670,
and then Georgia, in 1733, as a military out-
post. And France decided to make good her
claims to the Mississippi River Valley by
founding Louisiana in 1699.

The three outposts of empire encroached
on each other in the Southeast in Creek In-
dian country; at the Spaniards’ Fort
Apalachicola, up that river from Florida's
Gulf Coast; at ‘‘an English military outpost
of sorts’’ at Okfuskee on the Tallapoosa
River, near present-day Dadeville, AL;*
and at the French Fort Toulouse, planted
near the juncture of the Tallapoosa and
Coosa Rivers which form the Alabama, just
above present-day Montgomery.

As early as 1685, British traders, many of
them Scots, had penetrated into the
Alabama country, finding native markets
and mistresses. Later half-breed chiefs
bore such un-Indian patronymics as McGil-
livray and McQueen.

Louisiana Governor de ’Epinay reacted
to the British challenge. He sent Lieutenant
de la Tour Vitral with 20 soldiers in the
summer of 1717 up the Alabama River past
Tawasa to found this post, Fort des Aliba-
mons, later Fort Toulouse. They barely
beat British Army Colonel Hastings’ rival
expedition from Carolina by a month to the
strategic river forks.®* The Alabama coun-
try saw its first military garrison, one that
stayed nearly 50 years.

After the Treaty of Paris of 1763 ceded
Louisiana east of the Mississippi River to
Great Britain, Fort Toulouse’s troops
spiked their cannon and retired downriver
to Mobile and sailed out of our sight.

However, because the Creeks opposed it,
Colonel Robertson, the new British Com-
mandant of Mobile did not occupy Fort
Toulouse, and it fell quickly into ruin.
James Germany, designated by Robertson
as the fort’s caretaker, soon spent most of
his time in the home he built on the site of
Montgomery.* The only British military
presence was that of the Crown’s Indian
Agent to the Creeks, who seems always to
have been a British Army officer.

The last of these officers was Col. John
Tate, who married a half-Indian, Sehoya
McPherson, later the mother of William
Weatherford, the celebrated Creek war
leader. When England’s 13 seaboard col-
onies revolted against the Crown, Colonel
Tate raised a troop of Indian warriors and
drilled them at Ecanchatty, the Indian vi!
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lage on the site of Montgomery. He took
them to Georgia to reinforce the Tories be-
sieging Augusta, but became deranged and
died, and his campaign petered out.” This
was the only Revolutionary War activity on
the local scene.

The newly independent United States re-
ceived British West Florida, of which the
Alabama country was a part, in the 1783
Treaty of Paris. However, a dispute over
the border with Spanish Florida and the
presence of a strong Creek Nation delayed
American settlement. Maj. Gen. Andrew
Jackson and his American troops crushed
the Creek Nation at the Battle of Horseshoe
Bend on 27 March 1814 and imposed a sur-
render of half the Creek lands at the Treaty
of Fort Jackson on 9 August 1814.* Fort
Jackson was ‘‘Old Hickory's” post built on
the site of Fort Toulouse, and U.S. troops
garrisoned it until 1817 to keep the Indians
in line. Then Fort Jackson also fell into
ruin, but again the Alabama country had
seen uniformed soldiery.

Although there was no longer a regular
military garrison, American settlers pour-
ing into Central Alabama still perceived
threats from Indians and the Spanish in
Florida and quickly formed local military
companies. Montgomery County was
named in 1817 for Maj. Lemuel P. Mont-
gomery, who had fallen at Horseshoe Bend,
and in 1819 the newly established town of
Montgomery was named for Gen. Richard
Montgomery, Revolutionary War hero
killed at Quebec in 1775. The frontier town
soon had its first military company, the
Montgomery Light Infantry. Other units
formed in the course of the years: the
Montgomery Huzzars, Montgomery True
Blues, Montgomery Invincibles, Mont-
gomery Guards, Montgomery Greys, and
others. Such units came and went, but at
least two, the True Blues, organized in 1836,
and the Greys, formed in 1860, continued in
existence until after World War 1. One or
more local volunteer companies went off to
serve in the Creek Removal, Second
Seminole War, Texas War for Indepen-
dence, Mexican War, War Between the
States, Spanish-American War, Mexican
Border Expedition, and World War I. They
also were men'’s clubs, and some, such as
the True Blues, had the reputation of rep-
resenting the local beaumonde.® An exami-
nation of their scrapbooks shows their es-
teem of themselves and their corps.'

ARLY in the 1900s, aviation came

to Montgomery, and soon thereafter,

the military aviator was seen in World War
I. Attracted by good flying weather, the
Wright Brothers operated the first civilian
flying school in the U.S. in 1910 on the Frank
Kohn cotton plantation west of Montgom-
ery, the site of old Tawasa.* The Wrights’
School was there only for two months, but in
World War I the War Department chose the
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Wright Brothers’ hangar. built for them by businessmen in Montgomery. 1910.

same site for a U.S. Army flying field for
the same reasons as had the Wrights: good
flying weather, open terrain, and the im-
portunities of local businessmen.

.. .Astraining fields were to be estab-
lished in Florida and as another site.
to the East of Montgomery had also
been selected as favorable for flying
training it was considered necessary
to provide a Repair Depot to keep
these fields constantly supplied with
planes and engines that training
might proceed uninterrupted [sic]."

The U.S. Government bought 302 acres of
the Kohn plantation on the Wa